#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LORENZO M. JENKINS,

Appellant,

vs. : Case No. 83,727

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

FILED

JUN 18 1996

CIESTO, WARRANG COURT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 23, 1993, an indictment was filed in Pinellas County, Florida, charging the Appellant, LORENZO JENKINS, with the first-degree murder of Jeffrey Tackett, a police officer, in violation of \$782.04(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1991). The death occurred on June 13, 1993 (R4,5). Mr. Jenkins had a jury trial from February 28 through March 3, 1994, and was found guilty as charged. The Honorable W. Douglas Baird, Circuit Judge, presided (T1-1032;R1351). On March 4, 1994, the penalty phase was conducted; and the jury recommended life (T1033-1138; R1360). After hearing further arguments as to the penalty to be imposed on March 25, 1994 (SR817-853), the trial court overrode the jury's life recommendation and imposed a sentence of death on April 11, 1994 (R1433-1452, 1612-1658). Mr. Jenkins timely filed his notice of appeal on May 5, 1994 (R1466).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### A. Trial Testimony

On the evening of June 13, 1993, 19-year-old Amy Walker was home alone at 672 Poinsettia Condominium, Unit #10, in Pinellas County watching television upstairs when she heard clicking or tapping noises coming from downstairs (T349,350,352,354). described the layout of her condo as follows: the second floor had three bedrooms and two baths; the first floor had a foyer, bathroom, living room, dining room, kitchen, and backdoor -- which was seldom used but intact on the day in question -- leading to the garden; the backyard/garden had trees, bushes, flowers, patio, lights that are on at night, and a 6 or 7 foot high privacy fence (T350-352,361,362). The Pinellas Trail runs behind their condo on the other side of the fence (T351). She muted the sound on the television and could still hear the noises (T353). Ms. Walker called a friend about the noise and then called 911. She spoke with part-time dispatcher Michelle Stamm (T354,368,371). Walker said she was hearing noises from downstairs, but she also informed the dispatcher that the noises could be caused by an animal. An animal had gotten into the walls of Ms. Walker's condo before and made clicking and pounding noises (T354, 355).

The dispatcher for the Belleair Police Department dispatched the only Belleair police officer on duty that night -- Officer Jeffrey Tackett -- at 11:15 p.m. on what the dispatcher termed "an animal complaint" (T371). The dispatcher noted that Officer Tackett had come to work at 8:00 p.m. and had had only one other

call prior to the animal complaint call -- a traffic stop (T370). The dispatcher also admitted that there was no tape of the calls between the communications center and office that night. The system had run out of tape, and she was not authorized to change the tape nor was she obligated to call the matter to anyone's attention (T369, 370).

When Officer Tackett arrived at Ms. Walker's condo a few minutes later, Ms. Walker spoke to the officer from a window on the second floor facing the parking lot (T372). He asked if he could get to the back from there, and Ms. Walker said "yes" (T356). officer went around to the back, and Ms. Walker stayed on the phone with the dispatcher (T356). Via Officer Tackett's radio, both Ms. Walker (over the phone) and the dispatcher could hear Officer Tackett say he had someone, a black male suspect at qunpoint, and he needed backup right away (T356,373). At that point the dispatcher went on the radio trying to get an officer from the next local town -- Belleair Bluffs -- to respond, but there was no response (T373, 374). The dispatcher stopped transmitting except for emergency air traffic and dialed the phone to call the Belleair Bluffs police station. When the officer at the Belleair Bluffs Police Station answered, the dispatcher informed the officer that Officer Tackett had a suspect at gunpoint and needed backup. That Belleair Bluffs officer answered the call and asked for directions over the radio, and the dispatcher passed on directions she was getting from Ms. Walker (T374,375,441,442). The Belleair Bluffs officer then notified the Sheriff's Department dispatcher that he was on the way to backup a Belleair officer who had a man at gunpoint behind one of the buildings (T443). The Belleair Bluffs officer then switched back to the Belleair channel, and it is at this point that the Belleair Bluffs officer and the Belleair dispatcher heard Officer Tackett say his suspect was resisting and ask for his backup (T375,443). The Belleair Bluffs officer also heard Officer Tackett say his gun was being taken, whereupon the Belleair Bluffs officer switched to the Sheriff's Department channel to advise then the officer was having his gun taken away and they needed more help right away (T443).

The next thing the Belleair dispatcher heard from Officer It's bad. He's got my gun and he shot Tackett was: "I'm shot. me." The dispatcher acknowledged his transmission and called for medical attention (T375). Ms. Walker could hear the shot through the condo -- which she believed was about four minutes from when she first saw the officer, and then she got disconnected from the dispatcher (T356,357,364). The dispatcher said it was about one minute from when Officer Tackett says he had a suspect at gunpoint until he said he is shot (T385). The dispatcher starts making other calls for assistance -- a helicopter, a K-9 unit, and additional units; plus, the dispatcher's phone starts ringing. the dispatcher has to put Ms. Walker on hold, the dispatcher disconnects Ms. Walker due to a problem with the phone system (T376, 377).1 Christina Pack, who lived on the other side of the

Another dispatcher showed up for work at this point, but lost control and started crying when she found out what was happening (T378).

Pinellas Trail and behind the condominiums in question, was taking out her garbage at about 11:20 - 11:30 p.m. when she heard a male caucasian voice say, "put it down, put it down now, put it down." About three seconds later she heard a gunshot (T393-396). Ms. Pack believed the voice was about 150 to 200 feet away (T396). Another person -- a neighbor of Ms. Walker's in unit #8 -- also heard a shot. When she stuck her head out the back door, she could hear a man screaming and crying (T429-431). Both ladies called 911 (T397, 431).

The Belleair Bluffs officer took a wrong turn and was delayed in getting to 672 Poinsettia (T444). The Belleair Bluffs officer arrived at the scene at the same time as the Belleair Beach officer arrived. They asked Ms. Walker, who was still at the second-story window at the front of the condo, where the Belleair officer was; and she pointed to the rear of the building (R444). The two officer ran to the back of the building with their weapons drawn and found Officer Tackett's lit flashlight on the ground. A neighbor came out and said he had heard a shot to the north, so the officers ran about three buildings to the north.2 Hearing and seeing nothing, they went back to Ms. Walker's unit where they met with a sergeant from the Largo Police Department. The Largo officer informed them that a K-9 officer and dog was on the way to help locate the missing officer (T445,458,463). When the K-9 officer

The neighbor at unit #8, immediately next door to #10 to the south, also stated she told the officers not to go any further south because the shot had come from the north. She noted that she did not realized that what had occurred was right next door (T434).

and dog arrived from the Largo Police Department and was told to locate the missing officer, the K-9 officer went behind Ms. Walker's condo with the intent of going north based on what people were telling him. The dog, however, alerted to the south and immediately located Officer Tackett (T474-476).

The lighting conditions behind unit #10 were described differently by various officers: The Belleair Bluffs officer described it as being very dark in the back with one very dim street light; he never saw Officer Tackett on the ground or the damage to the rear French doors (T446). The K-9 officer said there were areas of light and darkness behind the condo -- "It's very dark. trees overhanging it. There's fences, there's plants there. the same time, there are also landscaping lights and things like that which give you kind of a blinding effect so that it is difficult to see back there. If you look here, it's very lit and over here, very dark and your vision, it's hard to adjust back (T476). Another Largo Police officer described the lighting as very poor with a lot of vegetation (T479). It is to be noted that Officer Tackett was dressed in a dark uniform (T467).

Once the K-9 officer located Officer Tackett, he informed the other officers at the scene; but he also advised them to take cover and be careful. The information the officers had been receiving was sketchy and erroneous; they had been lead to believe this situation involved domestic violence. The K-9 officer saw the damage to the French doors at the rear of the condo not far from where Officer Tackett was and showed the damage to the Largo sergeant.

Both officers believed the hole in the French door was caused by a bullet and Officer Tackett had been shot by someone inside the condo (T467,477,478).

Two of the first officers to see Officer Tackett immediately believed Officer Tackett to be dead (T467,480). Officer Tackett was described as being slightly keeled over to his right side, his left arm was draped up over his chest, his left leg was bent at the knee, his right leg was straight, and his right arm was out with the palm up (T480). The expert in blood stain pattern analysis and reconstruction gave her opinion that Officer Tackett was lying down This conclusion was based on the fact that the when shot. bloodshed would be instantaneous and there was no downward blood flow at all on the pants or on the leg (T845,865,866). The expert also believed Officer Tackett had to be on his right side immediately upon being wounded -- there had to be some constriction of the blood flow from the femoral artery because there was no projection of blood, no spurting of blood, and no downward flow of blood. Immediately after impact, Officer Tackett had to be on his right side or the expert would have found gushing (R866). opinion, Officer Tackett did not move while he was bleeding (T867). The expert also noted that the blood staining on the left hand and the radio is consistent with Officer Tackett holding the radio in his left hand (T863).

The paramedic was the first person to touch Officer Tackett's body (T490). The paramedic noticed the large pool of blood and the radio in Officer Tackett's left hand. The paramedic rolled Officer

Tackett over so that he would be flat on his back, and the paramedic's partner ripped the officer's shirt open. In the paramedic's opinion Officer Tackett was dead, but they used EKG paddles on the chest without success. After verifying that Officer Tackett was dead, the paramedics left the scene (T489). The paramedic stated he had just rolled the body over; he did not drag it around or interrupt the blood. He also noted that he did not return the body to its original position when he left it at the scene, and one of the officers stated the picture of the body were taken after the body had been moved (T486,491).

The medical examiner who performed the autopsy on Officer Tackett found the cause of death to be a gunshot wound to the thigh which severed the femoral artery and resulted in acute blood loss. The femoral artery is the main vessel supplying blood to the leg The time of death would have been about four to seven (T820). minutes from the time of being shot (T821). Irreversible shock -the point where a person is still alive but there is nothing that can be done to save that person -- would have occurred in two to four minutes with the shorter period of time being the most likely due to stress causing the heart to beat faster and the blood to pump out faster (R821,822). The bullet had entered on the side of the right thigh towards the back, exited on the inside of the right thigh slightly higher and more to the front, and entered in the right side of the scrotal sack where the bullet was located (T809, 812). Thus, the bullet path was from back to front, slightly upward, and from right to left (T825). Officer Tackett would have had to receive immediate attention (within a minute to one and a half minutes) from someone who knew what they were doing to be of any assistance; however, that is not to say Officer Tackett would have survived even with this assistance (T823,826). The medical examiner noted the femoral artery is on the inside of the leg, so the bullet from the outside of the leg had to travel through 90% of the leg before reaching the femoral artery (T830). He also noted there was "extensive bright red blood present on the right pants leg" and a lot of blood under the right leg at the scene (T807,833,834). The medical examiner did not see any smoke or powder by the entrance wound of the pants (T808), but he did see some other recent injuries -- scrape on left elbow, scrapings on right chin, cut on finger, and bruise on shoulder (T835).

Officer Tackett's handcuffs were missing from the scene, and Officer Tackett's gun was found on the other side of the privacy fence between the fence and the Pinellas Trail in a ditch (T565, 591,613,792,793). The gun was fully loaded with a round in the chamber (T565). The gun could hold up to nine bullets -- eight in the magazine and one in the chamber. Only one bullet had been fired, and 8 live bullets were still in the gun (T739). A butcher knife was also found at the scene in some mulch (T605). That knife was consistent with the type of tool used to pry wood off from the French doors at the point of attempted entry (T612,616-619,728-730), and the knife had some paint on it consistent with the paint of the door (R719-722).

Approximately four miles away and about eleven minutes away by bicycle, Lorenzo Jenkins rode up to his wife's home at 402 Marshall Street at about 11:30 p.m. on June 13, 1993 (T508,509,522,523,640, The two had been separated for a couple of months (T508). Mr. Jenkins found his wife across the street visiting with some neighbors (T510,511,522,524). Mr. Jenkins' step-son and a couple of neighbors noted that Mr. Jenkins was not wearing his short and had something wrapped around his right wrist (T511,512,524,534, 547). One neighbor who had been talking with Kathy Jenkins (Mr. Jenkins' wife) heard the conversation Mr. Jenkins had with his wife: Mr. Jenkins told his wife he was in trouble. He needed some money because he had lost his job. He shot a police officer. was breaking into a house that night. He needed his wife's help. When his wife asked what was under the shirt that was around his right hand, Mr. Jenkins threw the shirt at Mrs. Jenkins; and the neighbor could see a handcuff attached to the right hand and dangling from the right hand (T524-526).

Mr. and Mrs. Jenkins and a friend wound up in the neighbor's apartment in order to clean up Mr. Jenkins (T528,536). They were taking a long time in her apartment, so the neighbor sent her boyfriend, Sean Davis, into the apartment to find out what was going on (T529,536). Mr. Davis, when he went into the apartment, could see that they had been trying to get the handcuffs off Mr. Jenkins' wrist. Mrs. Jenkins knew Mr. Davis was a welder, and she asked if he would help. Mr. Davis said that before he would do anything he wanted to know where Mr. Jenkins had shot someone —

was it close? Mr. Jenkins said, "yes" (T537,538). Mr. Davis didn't ask any more questions and helped take the locked handcuffs off. Mr. Davis noticed Mr. Jenkins' wrist was slightly bruised (T538). Once the handcuffs were off, Mr. Jenkins gathered up his stuff and they all left (T538,539). Mr. Jenkins went down an alley, and Mrs. Jenkins became very upset. Mrs. Jenkins decided to call the police (T539, 540).

After that, there was a lot of police activity in the area (T516,540-542). At about 2:00 a.m. Mr. Jenkins returned to the area where Mrs. Jenkins lived and tried to get someone to hide him in one of the apartments until the police left (T516,542). Jenkins was wearing different clothes (T518,542). At that point, the police arrested Mr. Jenkins; Mr. Jenkins did not resist (T518, 530,543,552,553). After being given his Miranda warnings and signing a waiver, Mr. Jenkins was questioned at the station (T795-798). The investigating officer noted the deep marks on Mr. Jenkins' right wrist that appeared to be the width of a handcuff. Jenkins claimed the arresting officer had put the cuffs on too tight (T798). Mr. Jenkins denied being involved with the death of Officer Tackett and denied being involved in an attempted burglary at the Pelican Place Condominiums (T802). When Mrs. Jenkins was brought into the room to confront Mr. Jenkins with their prior conversation, Mr. Jenkins denied having said these things to his wife (T803). Mr. Jenkins admitted having just been fired from his job that day, having only \$18 in a savings account somewhere, and needing \$75 for his rent that would be due the next day (T800).

Two people who had worked with Mr. Jenkins during the day of June 13, 1993, also testified that Mr. Jenkins had told them he needed money real bad to pay his rent the next day<sup>3</sup> (T670-673,675-677). They all spent the day doing yard work, and it was noted Mr. Jenkins used white cotton work gloves with a blue band on the wrist while he worked. They also noted Mr. Jenkins was fired that day (T670-677).

Several experts testified as to various aspects of physical evidence: The gunshot reside analyst found no residue on Mr. Jenkins' hands. There could be several reasons for this: (1) The better the gun, the less likely residue will be present; and this gun was a well-made gun. (2) Wearing gloves will keep off residue. (3) Residue will come off with wiping or washing (T627-634). hair and fiber analyst examined fabric impressions left on the knife found at the scene and found them to be consistent with having been made by a light-duty work glove that is white with a blue rim at the wrist. An examination of hairs and fibers taken from Mr. Jenkins' clothing worn at the time of his arrest and the clothes he was wearing when he had the handcuffs removed revealed nothing that compared to Officer Tackett and no caucasian hairs. An examination of fibers and hairs removed from Officer Tackett also revealed nothing that compared to Mr. Jenkins and no negroid The expert talked about a theory of transfer that states hairs. the longer two people are in close personal contact with each other the more likely there will be a transfer of hair and fibers.

These witnesses both said he needed \$700 (T673,677).

struggle there should be a transfer, but here there was none. The expert did admit there would be a good likelihood of transfer if a person who is standing close enough to handcuff a person is subsequently overpowered by that person (T678-694). The blood analyst did not find any blood on Mr. Jenkins' clothes (T695-701). The glass analyst found glass on Mr. Jenkins' clothes with the same refractive index as the glass in the broken door where the attempted point of entry was located. The expert admitted that the refractive index only tells that the glass could have come from a known sample -- it's not a definite comparison. The expert also admitted that someone doing yard work could very well pick up pieces of broken glass in the dirt. The expert did find dissimilar glass on Mr. Jenkins' clothes (T702-717).

The firearms and toolmarks analyst rendered his opinion that the bullet found in Officer Tackett had come from the officer's gun (T733,734). In describing the officer's gun, he noted it was a single action/double action pistol (T742). Typically this gun is carried in the holster with the hammer forward so the first shot is a double-action shot with subsequent shots being single action. It takes more pressure to pull the trigger in a double-action mode (12 1/2 pounds in this gun) than in a single-action mode (7 1/2 pounds in this gun) (T742-744). This gun was capable of firing nine bullets without reloading -- one in the chamber and eight in the magazine. In this case he had received only one fired bullet, one fired case, and eight live cartridges (T739). This gun had three safeties that would prevent it from going off in a cocked position

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