IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 16 1996

LORENZO M. JENKINS,

Appellant,

CLIENK, BLUFFRENCH COOK!

ν.

Case No. 83,727

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(finding sufficient evidence from which the jury could have inferred premeditation to the exclusion of all other possible inferences, based on Bello's shooting at police officers through door: "It is clear from the record that Bello knew that police officers were attempting to enter the room, and he fired at an angle that would most likely hit, and probably kill, anyone attempting to open the door.")

Of course, premeditation may be formed in a moment and need only exist for such time as will allow the accused to be conscious of the nature of the act he is about to commit and the probable result of that act. Spencer, 645 So. 2d at 380-381; Asav, 580 So. 2d at 612; Wilson v. State, 493 So. 2d 1019, 1021 (Fla. 1986); Preston v. State, 444 So. 2d 939, 944 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, U.S. , 113 S. Ct. 1619, 123 L. Ed. 2d 178 (1993). There is no prescribed length of time which must elapse between the formation of the purpose to kill and the execution of the intent; it may occur a moment before the act. Provenzano v. State, 497 So. 1177, 1181 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 481 U.S. 1024 (1987); <u>Sireci v. a e</u>, 399 So. 2d 964, 967 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984 (1982); McCutchen v. State, 96 So. 2d 152 (Fla. 1957). This Court has characterized the duration of the premeditation as "immaterial so long as the murder results from a premeditated design existing at a definite time to murder a human being."

Songer v. State, 322 So. 2d 481, 483 (Fla. 1975), vacated on other

grounds, 430 U.S. 952, 97 s. ct. 1594, 51 L. Ed. 2d 801 (1977).

Whether or not the evidence shows a premeditated design to commit a murder is a question of fact for the jury which may be established by circumstantial evidence. Penn v. State, 574 So. 2d 1079, 1081-1082 (Fla. 1991); Asay, 580 So. 2d at 612; Cochran, 547 So. 2d at 930; Wilson, 493 So. 2d at 1021; Preston, 444 So. 2d at 944; Spinkellink v. Stat-e, 313 So. 2d 666 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 911 (1976). Weighing the evidence in light of these standards it is clear that the appellant's premeditation was proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Furthermore, it is obvious that any possible deficiency in the evidence of premeditation must be considered harmless beyond any reasonable doubt. The appellant concedes that there was sufficient evidence of felony murder, based on three possible felonies, to support a jury verdict for first degree felony murder (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 33). Where such evidence exists, any error in denying a motion for judgment of acquittal and instructing the jury on the alternative of premeditated murder is harmless. Mungin v. State, 667 So. 2d 751, 754 (Fla. 1995); McKennon v. State, 403 So. 2d 389, 390-391 (Fla. 1981); see also, Jackson v. State, 498 So.

2d 406, 410 (Fla. 1986) (even without the evidence of premeditation, the jury could have found felony murder based on the commission of the crime of escape), cert. denied, 483 U.S. 1010 (1987).

The appellant disputes the harmlessness of any error in this case, claiming it cannot be said that any juror, let alone all of the jurors, based the conviction solely on a felony murder theory, so there is the possibility of an invalid basis for the conviction. Relying on a line of United States Supreme Court cases following Stromberg v. California, 283 U.S. 359, 51 S. Ct. 532, 75 I,. Ed. 1117 (1931), the appellant claims any invalidity in the theory of premeditation requires per se reversal.

The appellant has failed to demonstrate any justification for reconsideration of this argument, which has previously been rejected by this Court. Parker v. Dugger, 660 So. 2d 1386 (Fla. 1995); Atwater v. State, 626 So. 2d 1325, 1327-28, n. 1 (Fla. 1993), Cert. denied, U.S., 114 S. Ct. 1578, 128 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1994). Parker succinctly explains the rationale for not applying Stromberg in the situation at bar:

Stromberg involved a conviction under a California statute that prohibited the flying of red flags on three alternative grounds, one of which violated rights guaranteed by the First Amendment. The United States Supreme

Court reversed the general verdict against Stromberg as it was impossible to tell if her conviction rested on the unconstitutional 283 U.S. at 370, 51 s.Ct. at 536. As the United States Supreme Court recently explained, Stromberg does "not necessarily stand for anything more than the principle that, where a provision of the Constitution forbids conviction on a particular ground, the constitutional guarantee is violated by a general verdict that may have rested on that ground." Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46, 53, 112 S.Ct. 466, 471, 116 L.Ed.2d 371 felony Neither murder premeditated murder is an unconstitutional ground on which to base a conviction. Stromberg is inapposite to the instant case.

660 so. 2d at 1390.

United States, 502 U.S. 46, 112 S. Ct. 466, 116 L. Ed. 2d 371 (1991), noting Griffin is not a case involving the death penalty and does not discuss the right to unanimous verdict. The appellant also claims that the reasoning of Griffin is flawed, in that a jury cannot be assumed to reject a theory which is unsupported by the evidence since they would believe that the prosecutor and judge believed the evidence to be sufficient. In addition, the appellant distinguishes Schad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624, 111 s. ct. 2491, 115 L. Ed. 2d 555 (1991) since Schad did not involve a legal theory supported by insufficient evidence. Finally, relying on the fact that his jury asked questions relating to the felony of escape, the

appellant speculates that the jury may have returned a third degree felony murder conviction if they had not been given the alternative premeditated theory.

None of these concerns warrant the reversal of this Court's holding in Parker, or the granting of a new trial in this case. The fact that **Griffin** did not involve the death penalty is immaterial, since the issue presented does not relate to sentencing. <u>'fin</u> soundly rejects the claim that a general verdict must be set aside where one possible basis is not supported by sufficient evidence. 112 S. Ct. at 474. Additionally, the United States Supreme Court has applied this reasoning in the death penalty context. See, Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527, 538, 112 S. Ct. 2114, 119 L. Ed. 2d 526 (1992) (refusing to presume juror error finding aggravating circumstance that was not supported by sufficient evidence).

The suggestion that the jury would have found premeditation even if the evidence was lacking simply because the prosecutor argued it and the judge instructed them on it is unconvincing, Jurors are presumed to follow the law, and there is no reason to believe the jury in this case would ignore the law and simply do what the prosecutor told them for the fun of it. The court below

obviously gave many instructions, not just first degree murder, but that was the only verdict returned,

Also, speculation about what the jury may have done based on the questions presented during the deliberations is hardly a basis for a new trial. Certainly, the distinction between felony murder based on escape and felony murder based on resisting arrest with violence is a difficult concept. The jury questions, if anything, merely reflect that the jury gave careful consideration to its verdict, supporting the presumption in <u>Griffin</u> that the jury below fulfilled its obligation to follow the law.

In conclusion, there was substantial, competent evidence of premeditation presented below to support a first degree murder conviction in this case. Any possible concern with the sufficiency of this evidence, however, would not affect the validity of the verdict in this cause, since there is obviously sufficient evidence to support a first degree felony murder conviction. Therefore, the appellant is not entitled to relief in this issue.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION ON PREMEDITATION.

The appellant next contends that the trial court should have granted his request to have the jury instructed on the definition of premeditation in accordance with McCutchen, 96 So. 2d at 153, rather than the standard jury instruction. This Court has expressly upheld the standard jury instruction, finding that it "addresses all of the points discussed in McCutchen, and thus properly instructs the jury about the element of premeditated design." Spencer. 645 So. 2d at 382.

Although the appellant characterizes the differences between the definition of premeditation set forth in <u>McCutcheon</u> and that in the standard instruction as "major," he has only specifically discussed the facts that the instruction does not explicitly state that the intent must be "fully" formed before the killing and requires "reflection" but does not mention "deliberation." These differences, however, do not affect the substance of the instruction and certainly do not mislead the jury on the definition or render the instruction erroneous.

It is well settled that the correctness of a jury charge should be determined by the consideration of the whole charge.

Barkley v. State, 152 Fla. 147, 10 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1942);

Anderson v. State, 133 Fla. 63, 182 So. 643 (Fla. 1938). The denial of a requested jury instruction cannot be deemed error where the substance of the charge was adequately covered by the instructions as a whole, and the charges as given are clear, comprehensive, and correct. Bolin v. State, 297 So. 2d 317, 319 (Fla. 3d DCA), cert. denied 304 so. 2d 452 (1974); Roker v. State, 284 So. 2d 454, 455 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973). In this case, the jury was completely and thoroughly instructed on the definition of premeditation (T. 979-980). Therefore, there was no abuse of discretion committed when the trial court refused to give the special instruction on premeditation requested in this case.

The appellant also claims that the definition from <u>McCutcheon</u> was required because it is more thorough and sets forth a higher standard for premeditation than the standard instruction. This claim was rejected in <u>Spencer</u>. In addition, this is not a relevant consideration in reviewing the denial of a requested instruction. Every instruction could be expounded upon, but the focus must be on whether the instruction, as given, was sufficient to advise the jury of the law. Case decisions may offer additional definitions

or explanations of the law, but a trial judge is not required to embody such decisions into his charge to the jury. This Court has recognized that not every judicial construction must be incorporated into a jury instruction. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 85, 90 (Fla. 1994). "Passages from appellate opinions, taken out of context, do not always make for good jury instructions." <u>Sarduv v. State</u>, 540 So. 2d 203, 205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

The appellant attacks the state's closing argument that "The time period involved must have been sufficient to allow reflection on his part and that the premeditated intent to kill existed before and at the time of the killing" (T. 955; Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 48). Yet that is the law on premeditation in this state. As previously noted, premeditation may be formed in a moment and there is no prescribed length of time which must elapse between the formation of the purpose to kill and the execution of the intent; it may occur a moment before the act. Spencer, 645 So. 2d at 380-381; Asay, 580 So. 2d at 612; Provenzano, 497 So. 2d at 1181; Sireci, 399 So. 2d at 967. There is absolutely no error shown in the state's closing remarks about premeditation.

^{&#}x27;Naturally, there was no objection to these comments.

In addition, the trial court could have properly refused the instruction requested by the defense because it is not an accurate statement of the law. Although much of the requested instruction was taken from McCutcheon, it also informed the jury that

Deliberation is the element which distinguishes first and second degree murder. It is defined **as** a prolonged premeditation and so is even stronger than premeditation.

(R. 1266). No legal authority has been offered, at trial or on appeal, to support the statement that premeditated murder requires something "stronger than premeditation." There was no reason to so instruct the jury.

The giving of a requested instruction is within the trial court's discretion. Kramer v. State, 619 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1993). The appellant has failed to establish any abuse of discretion in this case, and is not entitled to a new trial on this issue.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO BE PRESENT AT THE EXERCISE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES.

The appellant's next issue has not been preserved for appellate review. The appellant complains that he was not present at bench conferences during jury selection, where potential jurors were discussed and jury challenges were exercised. However, the appellant never requested the opportunity to attend these conferences with his attorney, and never objected to the procedure used by the court to select the jury. lack of a The contemporaneous objection precludes this Court's review of this issue. <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 661 so. 2d 288, 290 (Fla. 1995); <u>Shriner</u> <u>v. State</u>, 452 So. 2d 929, 930 (Fla. 1984). Although this Court's original opinion in Conev v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), stated that no objection was necessary to preserve this issue for appeal, that statement was omitted from the revised opinion issued on April 27, 1995; therefore, this issue is clearly barred. Compare, Conev v. State, 20 Fla. Law Weekly S16, S17 (Fla. January 5, 1995) and 653 So. 2d at 1013.

³The appellant's initial brief quotes from the original opinion in <u>Conev</u>, including this statement.

Even if the issue is considered, however, the appellant has not demonstrated that he is entitled to a new trial. His reliance on Coney is misplaced since his trial occurred in 1994 and the rule in Coney is, by its own terms, to be applied prospectively only.
653 So. 2d at 1013; Lett v. State, 668 So. 2d 1094, 1095 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (certifying question); Ouince v. State, 660 So. 2d 370, 371 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Ogden v. State, 658 So. 2d 621, 622 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); see generally, Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1007-1008, n. 4 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, U.S. 115 s. ct. 1705, 131 L. Ed. 2d 566 (1995). Therefore, Coney does not apply to the instant case.

Clearly, no new trial is warranted under the case law relating to this issue prior to <u>Coney</u>. A review of the record indicates that jury selection was conducted by the court asking preliminary questions of the prospective panel; followed by individual voir dire as to any exposure to pretrial publicity; followed by general questions to the entire prospective panel from the state and the defense (T. 1-311). Several jurors were excused for cause during the individual voir dire, both at bench conferences (T. 226-228, 235-236, 240-242) and in open court (T. 245, 263-264). The appellant's brief refers to five bench conferences where the record does not affirmatively indicate whether he was present or absent,

citing to T. 194, 226, 235, 240, and 303 (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 53). The record reflects, however, that at three of these conferences, only causal challenges based on the individual questioning were exercised (T. 226, 235, 240). Even applying Coney to these instances, no reversible error has been demonstrated. 653 so. 2d at 1013 (error harmless where only causal challenges were exercised). As to the two bench conferences where peremptory challenges were made, the record clearly reflects that the defense attorneys were advised to consult with the appellant prior to approaching the bench (T. 194, 303). Thus, as in Gibson, "there is no indication in this record that [the appellant] was prevented or limited in any way from consulting with his counsel concerning the exercise of juror challenges," and, in fact, the record affirmatively indicates otherwise.

The law prior to <u>Coney</u> provided that no reversible error was shown where the defendant was present in court but not at the bench when the actual selections were made, as long as there were no limitations on his ability to consult with counsel before any decisions or challenges were made. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1234, 1237 (Fla. 1990) (no error shown, despite defendant's absence from side-bar, where court gave defense counsel the opportunity to consult with client prior to bench conference), <u>cert. denied</u>,

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